IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

SID J. WHITE JUL 23 1992 CLERK, SOPREME COURT. By--Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 79,209

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the following symbols will be used to designate the record on appeal:

R = The instant record on appeal SR = The supplemental record on appeal PR = The record on appeal in the defendant's initial appeal, Case No. 62,184 [for previous record].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was convicted of the July 1981, first degree murders of John Eubanks and Walton Robert Farmer. <u>Craig v.</u> <u>State</u>, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). The jury recommended that the defendant receive a sentence of life imprisonment for the killing of John Eubanks (which was perpetrated by the co-defendant, Robert Schmidt) and a sentence of death for the killing of Farmer. <u>Id</u>.

The trial judge, the Honorable C. Welborn Daniel, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Lake County, overruled the jury recommendation of life imprisonment on the Eubanks murder and followed the recommendation of death for the Farmer murder in sentencing the defendant to two death sentences. <u>Id</u>. Regarding the murder of John Eubanks, the original judge found the aggravating circumstances of (1) the murder was committed for financial gain; (2) the murder was especially wicked, atrocious, or cruel; and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. <u>Id</u>. In mitigation, the original judge found that the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. <u>Id</u>.

With regard to the Farmer killing, the trial court originally found in aggravation that (1) at the time of the conviction of the murder, the defendant had previously been convicted of another capital offense, to-wit, the contemporaneous murder of John Eubanks; (2) the murder was committed for finan-

cial gain; (3) the murder was especially wicked, atrocious, or cruel; and (4) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. The trial court rejected all mitigating circumstances. Id.

On the initial direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, but remanded the case for resentencing before the judge. <u>Id</u>. In so doing, the Court struck the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and ruled that the trial court had erred in excluding evidence which the defense had sought to present to the judge at the sentencing hearing regarding the defendant's good conduct in jail from the time of his arrest until his sentencing date. <u>Id</u>.

On remand, the original trial judge, C. Welborn Daniel, by then appointed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, was assigned as a senior judge to consider the defendant's resentencing. (SR 335) Judge Daniel granted the defendant's motion to allow the defendant to present at the resentencing hearing any and all evidence of mitigating factors. (SR 321-322, 326) The court, however, denied the defendant's motion to empanel a new sentencing jury. (SR 318-320, 327-329) Although the court initially denied the defendant's motion to appoint a confidential mental health expert, the court granted a subsequently-filed more specific motion. (R 206-212, 215; SR 323-324, 329-332)

The defendant filed a renewed motion to empanel a new jury. (R 284-285) On July 19, 1991, the Honorable Don F. Briggs,

Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Lake County, as administrative judge of the circuit, noted that Judge Daniel had now retired from the bench and was engaged in the private practice of law, and assigned the case to himself to hear the resentencing. (R 320) In the same order, Judge Briggs ordered that the resentencing would be held before the judge only, without a new jury, and sua sponte ordered that the resentencing hearing evidence would be strictly limited to evidence of the defendant's conduct during incarceration in jail prior to his sentencing, thereby rescinding Judge Daniel's prior order to the contrary. (R 320-321)

The defendant filed motions for reconsideration and clarification of the July 19th order, arguing that, especially since a different judge was to handle the resentencing, all of the evidence must be heard anew and reevaluated so that the judge could weigh the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, rather than just reading the cold transcripts. (R 324-330) The defendant also requested leave to present evidence from the mental health expert to provide additional evidence of mitigation and further to enhance testimony of jailers regarding the defendant's conduct in jail. (R 330) The court denied the defendant's motion for reconsideration, but granted in part the motion for clarification to allow the mental health expert to testify only to matters related to the defendant's behavior during incarceration. (R 338)

The defendant then filed a motion to allow a proffer of

excluded matters which the defendant wished to present at the resentencing hearing in mitigation and a memorandum detailing some of the items sought to be presented. (R 337, 340-355) Included in the pleading was a new request for a new jury to hear this additional evidence which had not been presented to the original jury. (R 355) Counsel filed a motion for subpoenas to be issued to witnesses which the defense wanted to testify at the resentencing and for the purpose of the proffered testimony. (R 363-364, 378-380) The trial court denied the defendant's request for subpoenas, indicating that the defense could only call those witnesses who would testify to matters within the court's limitation of testimony for resentencing; further, the court denied the request for a live proffer of witnesses, indicating that defense counsel could offer her own summary of witnesses as the proffer rather than live testimony. (R 365-369, 381, 383) As an additional proffer, defense counsel filed depositions of some of the proposed, but excluded, witnesses. (R 377; SR 1-311)

At the resentencing hearing, the court reiterated that it had already ruled "as to the limitations of the resentencing issues to be involved." (R 5) The state presented no additional evidence, instead asking the new resentencing judge to take judicial notice of all previous testimony. (R 6) The judge stated that he had read the entire record. (R 6)

In accordance with the trial court's limitations on resentencing, the defense presented testimony of jailers from the Lake County Jail, where the defendant had been incarcerated from

his arrest until his original sentencing. The jailers reported having absolutely no trouble with the defendant, who had a good attitude and was extremely likeable. (R 8-9, 16-17) Robert Craig, they said, was one of the nicest persons they had ever met, a very worthwhile person. (R 9, 11, 17) The defendant never had any disputes or problems with other inmates. (R 10) He got along well with all of the guards and, in fact, came to the aid of an officer during a fight in the jail. (R 9, 17) The jailers opined that the defendant would be able to fit in fine in a prison open population. (R 10, 17)

The defendant sought to contrast the defendant's agreeable, nonviolent, non-confrontational attitude in jail with that of the co-defendant (whom he has always claimed was the principal violent actor in the killings). (R 17) The court sustained the state's objection to the questioning. (R 18) A defense proffer of the excluded evidence indicated that Robert Schmidt had some attitude problems, giving jailers trouble. (R 18) One jailer characterized Schmidt as a "butthole." (R 18)

The trial court, relaxing its previous restrictions on the resentencing hearing somewhat, allowed the defense to present a deposition to perpetuate testimony of Sergeant Clyde Blevins, a former death-row guard from Florida State Prison, concerning the defendant's conduct while on death-row following his first sentencing. (R 20-21, 37-40) Since the court was changing its previous ruling and since it had declined to issue witness subpoenas for several witnesses who could have testified further

regarding the defendant's conduct while on death row (including relatives, a pen-pal of the defendant, a minister, and a former death-row inmate who had since been released), the defendant moved for a continuance in order to obtain these witnesses for the resentencing hearing. (R 38, 40-44) The trial court denied the motion for a continuance, stating, "I've read your memo, ma'am. I can read. The motion is denied to continue. Next witness." (R 44)

Sergeant Blevins testified that he has known the defendant since Craig first was housed on death row in 1982. (R 22-23) Robert Craig was a likeable person who followed the rules and never gave anyone trouble. (R 23) In fact, Sgt. Blevins called the defendant the nicest death-row inmate he had ever met. (R 23-24) Blevins stated that Craig was quite different from the other death row inmates. (R 24) The defendant was always polite, never used profanity, was always neat (keeping his cell very clean), and was always doing something worthwhile (such as reading, drawing, or cleaning his cell). (R 23-24) He had a lot of respect for officers and other personnel. (R 24)

Craig would help the prison guards in any way he possibly could. (R 24, 26) The defendant would assist the guards by letting them know of any problems of which security should be aware, such as the presence of contraband. (R 23-26) He did this at great risk to himself since fellow inmates do not approve of snitches. (R 26)

Robert Craig also was always helping other inmates. (R

26) After first obtaining permission to do so, the defendant would share his food with the less fortunate and he would help them with legal work. (R 26-27) Craig respected the corrections officers and his fellow inmates; they, in turn, respected him. (R 27)

Unlike the concern he felt when transporting other inmates, Sergeant Blevins never worried when he had to remove the defendant's handcuffs when moving him. (R 28) The guards never found any contraband in the defendant's cell. (R 28) If the defendant were ever released to society, Blevins believes that he would never be any problem to society and that he would "do good for himself." (R 30) Blevins believes Craig would be a help to a lot of people if were ever released. (R 30) Blevins would have no problem, "not a bit in the world," if the defendant moved in next door to him (as opposed to most of the inmates whom he would not want to live in the same town). (R 30)

The court allowed the defense to present evidence from psychologist Dr. Harry Krop, but only as to evidence of the defendant's conduct while in prison. (R 44-74) The court sustained numerous state's objections and excluded any matters outside of this limited area. (R 47-48, 53-55, 57-58, 60, 62-63, 65-74) Dr. Krop testified that, in his many years of experience working in capital cases, he found it quite extraordinary that corrections officers would testify positively on behalf of a death row inmate, such as had occurred in the defendant's case. (R 48-49) The defendant's I.Q. was determined to be 84 - in the

lower range of low average. (R 50) The defendant, he stated, tried very hard on the test, but would get upset with himself if he could not do something successfully. (R 50) There appeared to be no evidence of any personality disorder and the defendant was coping well with his situation and had a positive attitude. (R 51) Craig exhibits a positive attitude, with no anti-social tendencies (as opposed to the norm of death-row inmates, who are usually diagnosed as having anti-social personality disorders). (R 51-52)

The behavior observed by correctional officers was consistent with the doctor's diagnosis of the defendant, that of a generally passive individual, who is compliant and responds to authority well. (R 55-56) The doctor opined that the defendant would fit quite well in the general prison population. (R 56) The defendant has pursued positive things in jail, such as drawing, writing letters, and having visits, to maintain his positive attitude, showing that the defendant has the ability to learn and would not be a management problem. (R 56-59)

Additionally, the doctor's observations of the defendant indicate he genuinely feels remorse for the crimes. (R 60) Craig is a non-assertive, passive individual. (R 61-62)

Following the defense proffer of additional matters which the defendant wished to present, but were excluded by the court from consideration (R 65-74, 78-83, 340-354, 408-439; SR 1-311), the court imposed two consecutive death sentences on the defendant. (R 110-115) The new sentencing judge found the exis-

tence of four aggravating circumstances for each count: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of a capital felony, to-wit: the other contemporaneous murder; (2) the murders were committed to avoid a lawful arrest; (3) the murders were committed for pecuniary gain; and (4) the murders were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R 443-445, 447-449) These findings included aggravating factors not found (and not even argued by the state) in the first sentencing, to-wit: that the murders were committed to avoid a lawful arrest and, as to the murder of John Eubanks (Count I), that the defendant had previously been convicted of the murder of Walton Robert Farmer. (R 444, 447-448)

Regarding the mitigating circumstances, the replacement judge found a lack of significant history of prior criminal activity, which he gave only little weight, and that the defendant exhibited good behavior during his incarceration from the time of his arrest through the trial and resentencing, which he assigned very little weight. (R 445-446, 449, 451-452) Despite (or because of) the trial court's limitations on the defendant's presentation of evidence of mitigating circumstances, the court found that the defendant had failed to present competent testimony or evidence to support any other statutory or nonstatutory mitigating circumstance, and thus rejected all other mitigating factors, stating, "The defendant has not proven nor reasonably convinced the undersigned that any other aspect of his character or record or any other circumstance of the offense is a circum-

stance to be considered in mitigation of his sentence." (R 446-447, 449-451) In imposing the death sentence on Count I (Eubanks), the court rejected the jury's life recommendation, simply evoking the language of <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), that "the circumstances of the murder dictate that the sentence of death is the only appropriate sentence, that being 'so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could defer.'" (sic) (R 452-453)

The defendant filed a motion for rehearing, contending again that a successor judge nay not weigh and compare evidence heard before a prior judge, that the new judge must personally hear all of the evidence from the witnesses, and that the same evidence must also be heard by a new jury. (R 648-649) The trial court denied the motion without comment. (R 647) A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 687) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 21, 1981, John Eubanks went to a ranch that he owned which was run by the defendant, Robert Craig. (PR 682-683, 685, 693) Robert Schmidt was also employed at the ranch as a laborer. (PR 691-692) Eubanks had told his wife and his secretary about some problems that he was having at the ranch with the defendant. (PR 683, 693) Eubanks planned to conduct a cattle count at the ranch since he believed that the defendant and Schmidt had stolen some of his cattle. (PR 778, 922, 1484)

While Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count along with Schmidt and Craig, Walton Farmer arrived at the ranch to talk to Eubanks. (PR 933, 1484) Eubanks had offered Farmer a job. (PR 715) While Eubanks and Farmer were in a remote area of the ranch with Schmidt and the defendant, they were shot and killed. (PR 945-953, 1409-1418) Two versions of the crime subsequently came to light.

In his statement to police two days after the incident¹ and again at trial, Robert Craig told what happened in the remote area of the ranch. Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count when he was joined by Farmer. (PR 1404-1406, 1409-1410, 2709-2710) Schmidt told the defendant that since Eubanks knew about the missing cattle, they were in big trouble and would have to kill both Eubanks and Farmer. (PR 1396-1397, 1410, 2710-2711) Craig told Schmidt that he would not be able to do that. (PR 1410,

 $^{^{1}}$ This statement was suppressed by the trial court on the day of the trial. (PR 2005 a)

2710)

The defendant was with Farmer and, some distance away and out of sight of the defendant, Schmidt was with Eubanks. (PR 1413, 2711) Craig heard Schmidt shoot twice. (PR 1413) Farmer and the defendant started running and Schmidt came into view, firing a couple of shots and yelling, "Shoot! Shoot!" (PR 1414-1416, 1488) The defendant fell to the ground and, with his eyes closed, fired in Farmer's direction three times. (PR 1414, 1486-1489, 2713) Everything happened so fast that the defendant just automatically shot without really thinking about it. (PR 1414, 2713, 2973-2974)

When Craig opened his eyes, he saw Farmer on the ground. (PR 1417) Schmidt walked past Craig and, standing over Farmer, shot the victim in the head. (PR 1416-1417) Craig asked Schmidt about Eubanks, and Schmidt replied that Eubanks was dead. (PR 1418)

Schmidt indicated that they would have to dispose of the victims' vehicles. (PR 1418, 2714) With the defendant following in the ranch truck, Schmidt first drove Farmer's jeep to Clermont and then drove Eubanks' automobile to Belleview. (PR 1419-1420, 2714-2715) Schmidt told the defendant that they would that night take the bodies to Wall Sink, a large, deep sinkhole in neighboring Sumter County. (PR 1420, 2716)

At Schmidt's directions, the two men loaded cement blocks, plywood, bales of straw, a rope and an old blanket onto the ranch pick-up truck. (PR 1423-1426, 2716) Schmidt took

Eubanks' and Farmer's hats and wallets and put them into a paper bag. (PR 1426-1427, 1494) The two men loaded the bodies onto the truck, covered them with the plywood and straw, and drove to Wall Sink. (PR 1428-1432) There, after cutting the lock on the fence and riving near the sinkhole, Schmidt directed the unloading of the bodies. (PR 1437-1440, 2716-2717)

At trial, Robert Schmidt testified for the state, as a part of a deal allowing him to plead guilty to two counts of second degree murder and dropping charges against his wife who had hidden the murder weapon. (PR 999-1001, 1018-1024,1048-1051) Schmidt's version of the incident was that the defendant had been the instigator. (PR 935-937) Schmidt testified that the defendant told him that they would have to kill Eubanks and Farmer since Eubanks knew of the cattle theft. (PR 935) Schmidt also testified that the defendant had one month earlier mentioned killing Eubanks so that Eubanks' widow would be totally dependent upon them to run the ranch. (PR 914-915) There was no discussion as to any details. (PR 941)

It was Schmidt's version that while at the remote area of the ranch with Eubanks, Schmidt heard the defendant (who was out of sight with Farmer) yell to him, Hey, Bob!," and then heard the defendant shoot first. (PR 945) Schmidt shot Eubanks twice in the back of the head. (PR 946-948) Schmidt then claimed that the defendant ordered Schmidt to shoot Farmer in the head since Farmer was still alive, which he did. (PR 950-952) Robert Schmidt then said that the defendant took a few bills from

Eubanks' wallet and looked for Eubanks' coveted shotgun in the trunk of Eubank's car. (PR 954, 959) Later that night, the two men disposed of the bodies at the sinkhole, Schmidt claiming that the defendant directed the actions. (PR 961-962, 967-974)

On July 22, 1981, Schmidt and Craig washed the bed of the pick-up truck and changed the tires on the truck. (PR 982-986, 1474, 1477, 1479) The police and several acquaintances of Farmer gathered at the ranch that morning to search for the missing Farmer. (PR 1470-1472) Craig, "running from a nightmare" and not knowing what to do, told a deputy that Farmer had left about 5:00 p.m. the previous day and that Eubanks had left a short time later. (PR 1471-1472)

Police investigation into the victims' disappearance led to the arrest of Schmidt and the defendant for cattle theft. (PR 2157-2159, 2185, 2368, 2375-2377, 2414-2415) After the police took five psychological stress evaluations of the defendant, Craig admitted to selling some of the Eubanks' cattle. (PR 2161, 2183, 2191, 2378-2379) Several hours later, after repeated questioning, after hiding the defendant from a bondsman and an attorney who were on their way to bail the defendant out of jail on the theft charge, after appealing to the defendant's conscience by telling him the victims deserved a "Christian burial," after slamming a chair in front of the defendant and confronting the defendant, and without readvising the defendant of his <u>Miranda</u> rights, the sheriff obtained a statement from the defendant admitting his involvement in the deaths of Eubanks and

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