FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 18 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,209

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #618550
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Craig states that Farmer arrived at the ranch after the cattle count had begun, but the testimony demonstrates that Farmer was at the ranch the morning of the murders when Craig and Schmidt returned from their latest trip to sell stolen cattle (R 920-21, 927, 1404).

Schmidt, Craig's codefendant, received two life sentences (R 605-06).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT 1: Craig was properly sentenced by a different judge following a limited remand for consideration of additional mitigating evidence by the trial court only. Appellee first contends that this courts denial of Craig's petition for writ of prohibition or mandamus constitutes law of the case, and the issue is no longer open for consideration. In any event, reversal is not warranted. Every fact before this court was found by a trial court judge who heard the testimony which resulted in the finding. This court already determined that the appropriate sentences were death based on the evidence heard by the jury, and the fact that a different judge heard additional mitigating evidence in no way prejudices Craig.

POINT 2: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Craig from presenting additional mitigating evidence and in not empaneling a new advisory jury. Craig was never precluded from presenting any mitigating evidence to the original jury. This court specifically remanded this case for reconsideration by the trial court as error did not occur until after the jury rendered its advisory recommendation.

POINT 3: The trial court properly found aggravating factors not found by the original sentencer where evidence of those factors was before the original sentencer. A trial judge may properly apply the law and is not bound in remand proceedings by prior legal error. Defense counsel argued that this was the standard for mitigating factors, and it applies to aggravating factors as well.

POINT 4: The death sentences were properly imposed. The trial court set forth sufficient facts to support the finding of these factors, and all four are applicable to both murders. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding, weighing and rejecting mitigating factors, particularly where rejection of the same had already been approved by this court, and the trial court found a mitigating factor on the basis of the only evidence properly before it. There is no reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation on Count I, and the death sentences are proportionate.

POINT 5: This claim is procedurally barred for failure to raise it in prior proceedings. Error, if any, is harmless.

POINT 1

CRAIG WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED BY A DIFFERENT JUDGE FOLLOWING A LIMITED REMAND FOR CONSIDERATION OF EVIDENCE OF CRAIG'S BEHAVIOR WHILE IN PRISON.

judge erred that the resentencing Craig contends sentencing him without hearing the testimony of witnesses that was heard by the original trial judge. In August, 1991, Craig filed a petition for a writ of mandamus, prohibition or other writ directing the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing and to convene a jury to reconsider the sentencing decision. Craiq arqued that a number of mitigating factors could be introduced at the sentencing phase trial and that the fact finder should have the advantage of hearing live testimony. The petition was denied by this court on September 19, 1991. Craig v. Briggs, Case No. 78,437. Thus, appellee first contends that this court's denial, as opposed to dismissal of the petition, constitutes a ruling on the merits of this issue which became law of the case, and the issue is no longer open for discussion or consideration by this court. Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24, 28 (Fla. 1980). Under the "law of the case" doctrine, whatever is once established between the same parties in the same case as the controlling legal rule on a particular issue continues to control throughout any subsequent proceedings. See, Id.; Strazzulla v. Hendrick, 177 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1965); LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988). See also, Reyes v. State, 554 So.2d 625 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), rev. denied 562 So.2d 346 (1990); Nordqvist v. Nordqvist, 586 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (denial of petition for writ of prohibition is ruling on the merits unless otherwise indicated). But see, Fryman v. State, 450 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Thomason v. State, 594 So.2d 310, 312 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (Stone, J., concurring specially).

In any event, reversal is not warranted. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.700 states:

(c) In those cases where it is necessary that sentence be pronounced by a judge other than the judge who presided at trial, or accepted the plea, the sentencing judge shall not pass sentence until he shall have acquainted himself with what transpired at the trial on the facts, including any plea discussions, concerning the plea and offense.

In addition, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.231 provides that if by reason of disability, the judge before whom the trial commenced is unable to proceed with posttrial proceedings, another judge, certifying that he has familiarized himself with the case, may proceed with the disposition of the case. Appellee recognizes that this court recently held that a judge who is substituted before the initial trial on the merits is completed and who does not hear the evidence presented during the penalty phase of the trial must conduct a new proceeding before a jury to assure that both the judge and jury hear the same evidence that will be determinative of whether a defendant lives or dies. Corbett v. State, 17 F.L.W. 355 (Fla. June 11, 1992). However, as demonstrated, the facts of the instant case distinguishable from that case, and appellee contends that this distinction renders Corbett inapplicable to the instant case, particularly since there is no way that Craig can demonstrate that he was in any way prejudiced.

Every fact before this court was found by a trial court judge who heard the live testimony which led to its finding. This is not a case where a trial court judge had to weigh the evidence and make a credibility determination on the basis of a cold, hard record. The original sentencing judge, who heard the same evidence as the advisory jury, issued a 23 page order wherein he rendered extensive factual and legal findings (PR 2088-2110). The only error this court found in that order was the trial court's legal conclusion that the two murders were heinous, atrocious and cruel. Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). This court then remanded for consideration of evidence of Craiq's behavior while in prison, and a different judge heard the live testimony, made factual findings and determined that this was a mitigating factor entitled to little weight. Since Craig had never attempted to put this evidence before the original jury, there was no evidence to be heard by the same judge and jury.

The fact that a different judge heard the additional evidence does not and cannot change the facts of these murders, does not and cannot change the existence of aggravating factors, and does not and cannot change the rejection of mitigating factors as determined by the judge who heard the same evidence as the advisory jury, and does not and cannot change the fact that this court has already approved those findings. The findings would have been the same had the original judge presided over the remand proceedings, so Craig simply cannot demonstrate that he suffered any detriment. §38.12, Fla. Stat. (1989). It simply

defies logic and reason to find that if the remand proceedings had been held before the original trial court he would have imposed two life sentences because Craig had been a good boy in jail. In this respect, it must be remembered that the original trial court found no reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation and this court approved that finding.

The parties stipulated to the use of all previous transcripts, the trial court took judicial notice of the record, and the trial court certified that he had familiarized himself with the entire record (R 6, 203, 443). As stated, every factual finding in this case has been rendered by a judge who heard the testimony resulting in it. Consequently, unlike *Corbett, supra,* there is an adequate record for this court to review to determine the propriety of the death sentence. In this respect, appellee would point out that this court can either independently reweigh the factors or conduct a harmless error analysis. *See, Clemons v. Mississippi,* 494 U.S. 738 (1990).

This situation is analogous to a different trial court judge finding in post conviction proceedings, and/or this court approving a finding, that *Hitchcock* error was harmless or that trial counsel was not ineffective for not presenting additional mitigating evidence as the outcome would not have been affected. See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State, 574 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1991) (nonstatutory mitigating evidence that defendant maintained steady employment, was devoted to family, and was intelligent, nonviolent and socially adept would not have affected sentence in light of evidence surrounding the several murders); Heiney v. State, 558

So.2d 398 (Fla. 1990) (nonstatutory mitigating evidence that defendant was courteous and cooperative when arrested, did not fight extradition, and was not violent until two days before murder would not have changed sentence, even though jury recommended life). This court already determined that Craig deserved to die based on the evidence that the jury heard, and the fact that additional nonstatutory mitigating evidence heard by a different trial judge does not change this result nor does it render the death sentences unconstitutional or unfair.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PRECLUDING CRAIG FROM PRESENTING ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE AND IN NOT EMPANELING A NEW ADVISORY JURY.

In Point 2 of his brief, Craig contends that the trial court erred in precluding him from presenting additional mitigating evidence at the "resentencing hearing" (IB 27). In Point 3 of his brief, Craig contends that the trial court erred in failing to empanel a new advisory jury (IB 33). Since these two points are so closely related and have both been addressed in many of the same cases, appellee will respond to them in one point. Appellee first contends, as was argued in Point 1, supra, that this court's previous denial of Craig's petition constitutes law of the case. In any event, error has not been demonstrated.

In remanding this case, this court stated:

The Skipper decision requires reconsideration of the sentences of death imposed in this case. reconsideration shall be by the trial judge only because appellant did not attempt to introduce the good-behavior evidence before the jury but only sought present it to the judge before sentencing.

Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 871 (Fla. 1987). As such, the instant proceeding was not a "resentencing hearing", but simply a limited remand so that the trial court could consider and weigh evidence of Craig's good behavior in jail. This was the only evidence Craig had previously been precluded from presenting, and he only sought to present it to the trial court. Compare, Preston v. State, 17 F.L.W. 252 (Fla. April 16, 1992) and Mann v. State, 453

So.2d 784 (Fla. 1984) with Ferguson v. State, 474 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1985) (remand for proper consideration by trial court mitigating circumstances relating to appellant's mental state and ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct); Mikenas v. State, 407 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1982) (remand for resentencing without jury where evidence itself was not improper, but only manner in which it was considered by trial court in findings of fact); Oats v. State, 472 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1985) (three aggravating factors were improperly considered by trial court so case remanded for entry of a new sentencing order); Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982) (case remanded for resentencing by trial judge where improper aggravating factors considered); and Funchess v. State, 399 So.2d 356 (Fla. 1981), Dougan v. State, 398 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1981), and Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), all of which involved limited remands pursuant to Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 Given its varied terminologies in remanding for (1977).resentencing, this court has allowed trial courts to exercise discretion in resentencing. Lucas v. State, 490 So.2d 943 (Fla. Appellant contends that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not permitting Craig to present mitigating evidence and in not empaneling a new sentencing jury.

In the first place, Craig was never precluded from presenting any mitigating evidence at the original proceeding, other than the evidence of his behavior in prison, which he sought to introduce only before the trial judge. See, Mikenas, supra (defendant had been afforded ample opportunity to present mitigating evidence at original sentencing proceeding). Compare,

Riley v. Wainwright, 517 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1987); Lucas, supra. The purpose of this court's remand was for the trial court only to hear and weigh the evidence that Craig had been precluded from presenting. While counsel endeavored to treat the remand as a full-blown sentencing proceeding, the trial judge properly rejected this attempt to expand the proceeding. Dougan, supra; Songer, supra; Funchess, supra.

evidence Craiq sought to introduce Further, the cumulative to that presented at the original proceeding and available at the original proceeding. At the proceeding before the jury, Craig presented the testimony of his father, mother-inlaw, and wife (PR 1730-49). They all testified that Craig is a wonderful, gullible guy who never caused any trouble and was never in any trouble until he met Schmidt. The PSI contained statements from Craig's wife, mother-in-law, father-in-law, sister-in-law, two former employers and his parents (PR 2044-45). In addition, a number of letters written and signed on Craiq's behalf were attached to the PSI (PR 2047-87). Simply because Craig's strategy did not result in life sentences the first time does not mean there a basis for a second attempt on a limited remand.

Likewise, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not empaneling a new advisory jury. Craig states that nothing in this court's language precluded the trial court from empaneling a new jury, but this court's language was very specific on this issue. This court determined that any error in the exclusion of evidence did not affect the jury recommendations since Craig

never attempted to present the evidence at issue to the jury, and specifically stated that reconsideration of sentence "shall be by the trial judge only". Craig, supra at 871 (emphasis supplied). Thus it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the exclusion of the evidence did not affect the jury recommendations, so there was no abuse of discretion in not empaneling a new jury. Menendez, supra; Mikenas, supra; Riley, supra; Songer, supra; Oats v. State, 472 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1985). Where error occurs after the jury gives its recommendation, no purpose would be served by ordering that the defendant be resentenced by a jury. See, e.g., Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683, 692 (11th Cir. 1985).

The case relied upon by Craig, Lucas, supra, is readily distinguishable. Lucas had been sentenced before this court's opinion in Songer, supra, and the jury had only been instructed on the statutory mitigating factors. The case had already been remanded once, and the court determined that rather than face the possibility of future problems, it would simply remand for a complete resentencing at that time. As stated, Craig was not precluded from presenting any mitigating evidence to the jury, nor was the jury restricted in its consideration of mitigating evidence. There is simply no basis for Craig's inference that this case will return for resentencing in the future following post conviction proceedings.

POINT 3

THE TRIAL COURT FOUND PROPERLY AGGRAVATING FACTORS NOT FOUND BYTHE ORIGINAL SENTENCER WHERE **EVIDENCE** THOSE AGGRAVATING FACTORS WAS BEFORE THE ORIGINAL SENTENCER.

Craig contends that the trial court erred in finding statutory aggravating factors which had not been found by the prior sentencing judge. Craig contends that consideration of these factors is barred by the doctrines of res judicata, law of the case, double jeopardy and fundamental fairness. Appellee submits that Craig's contentions are without merit as they have previously been rejected by this court.

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